

Das et al. Reply: The *first aspect* of the preceding Comment [1] by Markovich and Jung is the experimental controversy on the origin of the destabilization of charge ordering (CO) in $\text{La}_{0.5}\text{Ca}_{0.5}\text{MnO}_3$ nanoclusters. As rightly pointed out, the experimental synthesis of manganite clusters is faced with difficulties, e.g., impure phases, grain boundaries, and non-stoichiometry. Therefore, the experimental results reported by different research groups [2,3] may differ. Fortunately, our theoretical calculation [4] is devoid of these difficulties as we study a perfectly pure sample on the computer. Our calculation clearly shows that size reduction alone is able to destabilize CO in small $\text{La}_{0.5}\text{Ca}_{0.5}\text{MnO}_3$ nanoclusters. Nonstoichiometry, which is difficult to control experimentally might further add to this destabilization.

As a *second aspect*, the authors of Ref. [1] claim our calculations [4] to be “based on doubtful structural and magnetic results,” i.e., the experimental results of Ref. [2]. The authors completely misconceive the nature of our calculation. There is no input from any experiment. Based only on the atomic species involved, we have done *ab initio*, parameter-free density functional theory calculations, performing a complete geometrical optimization of nanoclusters. The theoretical optimization, carried out at zero temperature, shows structural changes involving (i) a reduction in volume and (ii) a change in orthorhombic strain from an highly anisotropic one in bulk to a nearly isotropic one on the nanoscale. The change (ii) indeed *is in agreement* with the experimental findings in Ref. [3] quoted by the Comment’s authors [1]: “Despite the similar room-temperature structure, the low temperature structural data of nanoparticles differ significantly from that of the bulk.” This low temperature phase is relevant for the CO and is the one to be compared with our theoretical structural relaxation, instead of the room-temperature data as Comment [1] refers to.

Having clarified that the criticism of the Comment [1] concerning our *theoretical* calculation is unfounded, let us turn to the *experimental* controversy concerning the unit volume change. The results from different experimental groups [2,3] differ in this respect. While Ref. [3] reports a unit cell volume of 225 \AA^3 compared to $224\text{--}225 \text{ \AA}^3$ for the bulk, Ref. [2] reports a volume of 222 \AA^3 , i.e., a noteworthy reduction upon moving to the nanoscale. Our theoretical calculations predict a trend in volume change which is in agreement with that of Ref. [2] and with the general trend seen in theoretical and experimental studies in different systems [5] that the bonding becomes stronger as size decreases. Note that the amount of volume reduction strongly depends on the size of the nanoclusters. This is supported by our calculations: for 2 nm radius the volume reduction is 8% while for 3 nm radius it is 6%, in line with the experimental observation of 2% volume reduction for 15 nm clusters reported in Ref. [2]. For the larger 25 nm nanoclusters studied in Ref. [3], the general trend would suggest an even smaller volume reduction of 1% or less. This small change is challenging to resolve experimentally and prone to

difficulties in the experimental synthesis procedure. On the other hand, the experimental study in Ref. [6], carried out on a related manganite, $\text{Pr}_{0.5}\text{Ca}_{0.5}\text{MnO}_3$, reports a systematic unit cell reduction when the particle size is reduced. A small to medium amount of volume reductions have been also reported in other works.[7]

We checked the validity of the predicted ferromagnetic phase to a larger cluster, by carrying out calculations with both the [2,4] 6% and 2% reduced volume, keeping the tilt and rotation of the MnO_6 octahedra the same as that found in our theoretical optimization [4]. The calculations showed the ferromagnetic state to be more stable compared to the antiferromagnetic CO state by 25 meV/f.u and 10 meV/f.u. for 6% and 2% volume reduction, respectively.

In conclusion, the only criticism of the Comment [1] concerning our *theoretical* calculations [4] is based on a misunderstanding as elaborated above. Our theoretical results [4] provide a clean stoichiometric system in isolation, devoid of the experimental problems. We unambiguously show that structural changes caused by the size reduction can lead to the destabilization of CO. The only point remaining is to clarify the contradicting *experimental* situation [2,3,6–8]. We are confident that future experiments, by studying smaller and systematically different sizes of nanoclusters grown under the same condition (as in Ref. [6]), will help to settle this issue.

Hena Das,¹ G. Sangiovanni,² A. Valli,² K. Held,² and T. Saha-Dasgupta¹

¹S.N. Bose National Centre for Basic Sciences
Kolkata 700098, India

²Vienna University of Technology
1040 Wien, Austria

Received 7 February 2012; published 23 March 2012

DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.108.129702

PACS numbers: 75.47.Lx, 68.65.–k, 71.15.Mb, 71.27.+a

- [1] V. Markovich and G. Jung, preceding Comment, Phys. Rev. Lett. **108**, 129701 (2012).
- [2] T. Sarkar, B. Ghosh, A. K. Raychaudhuri, and T. Chatterji, Phys. Rev. B **77**, 235112 (2008).
- [3] Z. Jiráček, E. Hadová, O. Kaman, K. Knížek, M. Maryško, E. Pollert, M. Dlouhá, and S. Vratislav, Phys. Rev. B **81**, 024403 (2010).
- [4] H. Das G. Sangiovanni, A. Valli, K. Held, and T. Saha-Dasgupta, Phys. Rev. Lett. **107**, 197202 (2011).
- [5] See, e.g., M. Riedler, A. R. B. de Castro, A. Kolmakov, J. O. Löfken, C. Nowak, A. V. Soldatov, A. Wark, G. Yalovega, and T. Möller, J. Chem. Phys. **115**, 1319 (2001); Sven Krüger, Stefan Vent, Folke Nörtemann, Markus Staufer, and Notker Rösch, J. Chem. Phys. **115**, 2082 (2001).
- [6] T. Zhang and M. Dressel, Phys. Rev. B **80**, 014435 (2009).
- [7] E. Rozenberg *et al.*, Phys. Rev. B **76**, 214429 (2007); **78**, 052405 (2008); L. Liu, S. L. Yuan, Z. M. Tian, X. Liu, J. H. He, P. Li, C. H. Wang, X. F. Zheng, and S. Y. Yin, J. Phys.

- D **42**, 045003 (2009); S. Kundu, A Das, T. K. Nath, and A. K. Nigam, *J. Magn. Magn. Mater.* **324**, 823 (2012).
- [8] M. Auslender, A.I. Shames, E. Rozenberg, E. Sominski, A. Gedanken, and Ya. M. Mukovskii, *J. Appl. Phys.* **107**, 09D702 (2010); E. Rozenberg, M. I. Tsindlekht, I. Felner, E. Sominski, A. Gedanken, Ya. M. Mukovskii, and Eui

Lee Cheol, *IEEE Trans. Magn.* **45**, 2576 (2009). These experiments (cited in Ref. [1] as evidence for a slight increase of the unit cell volume) show an increase only if compared with the bulk, while the comparison between nanoclusters of reducing sizes shows a systematic decrease.